



AGENDA

N.C. WILDLIFE RESOURCES COMMISSION WEBINAR MEETING AUGUST 27, 2020 9:00 am

CALL TO ORDER - *Chairman David Hoyle, Jr.*

This electronic meeting is being streamed live and recorded as a public record. The recording of the meeting will be available at www.ncwildlife.org.

ROLL CALL OF COMMISSIONERS PRESENT – *Betsy Haywood, Commission Liaison*

MANDATORY ETHICS INQUIRY – North Carolina General Statute §163A-159(e) mandates that the Commission Chair shall remind all Commissioners of their duty to avoid conflicts of interest and appearances of conflict under this Chapter, and that the chair also inquires as to whether there is any known conflict of interest or appearance of conflict with respect to any matters coming before the Commission at this time. It is the duty of each Commissioner who is aware of such personal conflict of interest or of an appearance of a conflict, to notify the Chair of the same. *Chairman David Hoyle*

APPROVAL OF JULY 23, MEETING MINUTES – Take action on the July 23, 2020 Wildlife Resources Commission meeting minutes as written in the exhibit (**EXHIBIT A**)

FINANCIAL STATUS REPORT – Receive a financial status report on the Wildlife Operating Fund and Wildlife Endowment Fund – *Dr. DP Singla, Chief Financial Officer* (**EXHIBIT B**)

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING REPORT - *Chairman David Hoyle, Jr.*

AGENCY SPOTLIGHT - – **Establishing and Monitoring a New Bodie (Hybrid Striped) Bass Fishery in Lake Norman** – *Corey Oakley, Piedmont Region Fisheries Supervisor*

SPECIAL PRESENTATION – 2019 AFS Fisheries Administration Section Award Presentation – Present the Commission with the Sport Fish Restoration Outstanding Development and Management Project Award for the Bodie Bass (hybrid Striped Bass) work Lake Norman – *Gary Whelan, President-Elect, AFS Fisheries Administration Section*

PERMANENT RULEMAKING

Fiscal Note Review and Notice of Text – 15A NCAC 10H .1200 Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves – consider adoption of Fiscal Note (**EXHIBIT C-1**). Consider approval to publish Notice of Text in the *NC Register* with an open comment period and one virtual public hearing for proposed amendments to rules for licensing and regulation of controlled fox hunting preserves (**EXHIBIT C-2**) – *Carrie Ruhlman, Rulemaking Coordinator*

Fiscal Note Review and Notice of Text– 15A NCAC 10B .0409 Sale of Live Foxes and Coyotes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves- consider adoption of Fiscal Note (**EXHIBIT D-1**). Consider approval to publish Notice of Text in the *NC Register* with an open comment period and one virtual public hearing for proposed amendments to the rule for trapping and live sale of foxes and coyotes to controlled fox hunting preserves (**EXHIBIT D-2**) – *Carrie Ruhlman*

CONSIDER ADDITION OF A WEBINAR WILDLIFE COMMISSION MEETING ON THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2020 – Consider a webinar Wildlife Resources Commission meeting at 10:00 am on September 10, 2020 to review public comments and consider adoption of temporary rulemaking revisions to 15A NCAC 10D .0103 to correct the primitive weapons season dates on Nicholson Creek Game Land – *Executive Director Cameron Ingram*

COMMENTS BY THE CHAIRMAN – *Chairman Hoyle*

COMMENTS BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR – *Executive Director Ingram*

ADJOURN

EXHIBIT A
August 27, 2020



MINUTES
July 23, 2020
N. C. Wildlife Resources Commission Webinar Meeting
Raleigh, North Carolina

Pursuant to North Carolina General Statute (NCGS) §166A-19.24 (Public Bodies/Remote Meetings During Declared Emergencies) the July 23, 2020 N. C. Wildlife Resources Commission (NCWRC) webinar meeting was called to order by Commission Chairman David Hoyle, Jr. at 9:00 a.m.

Chairman Hoyle announced that the webinar meeting audio is being streamed live and will be available on the NCWRC's website. He reminded Commissioners to speak their names before making motions or comments and to mute their devices when not speaking. Hoyle announced that by the statutory requirement, the roll will be called for attendance and for each motion.

MANDATORY ETHICS INQUIRY

Chairman Hoyle advised the Commission of the mandatory ethics inquiry as mandated in NCGS §138A-15. Monty Crump recused himself from discussion and action on **Exhibits E-1, E-2, E-3, and E-4, Phase II Land Acquisitions.**

ROLL CALL

Betsy Haywood, *Commission Liaison*, called the roll. John Coley, Nat Harris, Richard Edwards, and Hayden Rogers were absent.

COMMISSIONER ATTENDANCE

David Hoyle, Jr.
Wes Seegars
Monty Crump
Brad Stanback
Tom Berry
Landon Zimmer
Jim Cogdell
Mark Craig

Kelly Davis
John Stone
Steve Windham
Ray Clifton
Tommy Fonville
Jim Ruffin
Mike Johnson

MINUTES OF MAY 7, 2020 MEETING; MINUTES OF JUNE 3, 2020 SPECIAL MEETING

On a motion by Jim Cogdell and second by Wes Seegars, the Commission approved the May 7, 2020 NCWRC minutes as presented in **Exhibit A** and the June 3, 2020 NCWRC Special Meeting Minutes as presented in **Exhibit B**. **Exhibits A and B** are incorporated into the official record of this meeting.

ADMINISTRATION

Financial Status Report – Dr. D.P. Singla, *Chief Financial Officer*, presented a status report in **Exhibit C** on the Wildlife Operating Fund and the Wildlife Endowment Fund. As of May 31, 2020, the revenues from the Wildlife Operating Fund are \$68,511,042.27, revenues from other sources are \$6,832,767.63, and the expenditures are \$77,190,074.35. The Fund Balance as of May 31, 2020 is \$13,471,628.83. Balances in the Endowment Fund as of May 31, 2020 are \$94,810,928.24 in the Bond Index Fund, \$45,342,870.89 in the Equity Index Fund, and \$1,613,310.19 in the Short-Term Index Fund for a total of \$141,767,109.32. Expendable interest is \$31,124,933.63. Non-expendable interest is \$13,902,299.83 and expendable interest transferred to operations fiscal year to date is \$3,363,792.00. **Exhibit C** is incorporated into the official record of this meeting.

Wildlife Endowment Fund Interest Allocation for Fiscal Year 2021 – On a motion by Monty Crump and second by Mike Johnson, the Commission approved **Exhibit D**, the allocation of expendable interest from the Endowment Fund for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 in the amount of \$2,356,441.13. The motion includes allocating \$101,242.46, which is 100 percent of the interest earned from *Wildlife in North Carolina* magazine lifetime subscriptions, to the magazine budget. **Exhibit D** is incorporated into the official record of this meeting.

COMMITTEE MEETING REPORTS

Land Acquisition and Property (LAP) Committee Report – June 30, 2020 – Tom Berry, *Chair*, reported that the LAP met via webinar from 10:30 a.m. until noon on June 30, 2020. Brian McRae, *Land and Water Access Division Chief* gave an update on the project assessing possible Sunday hunting on game lands. Chris Jordan, *Game Lands and Forest Resources Manager* updated the committee on efforts to join the North Carolina Tree Farm Program. The Committee reviewed a survey regarding agency land acquisition priorities and reviewed the spreadsheet of current land acquisition projects. Jessie Birckhead, *Land Acquisition and Grants Manager* updated the Committee on the Alcoa Tuckertown acquisition. Four Phase I projects were reviewed. The Committee reviewed five proposed Phase II acquisitions and two easement requests.

Committee of the Whole (COW) Report – July 22, 2020 – Chairman David Hoyle announced that the COW met on July 22, 2020. Three species augmentation requests were reviewed by Todd Ewing, *Aquatic Wildlife Diversity Supervisor* and approved. Dr. D.P. Singla, *Chief Financial Officer*, reviewed the Wildlife Endowment Fund Interest Allocation for FY 2021. Michael Smallwood, *JD Policy Analyst for Rules*, reviewed temporary rulemaking Notice of Text, and final adoptions of temporary rules and permanent rules for consideration by the entire Commission at today’s meeting. Betsy Haywood, *No Wake Zone Coordinator*, reviewed temporary rulemaking final adoption and permanent rulemaking Notices of Text for several water safety rules to be considered at today’s meeting. Carrie Ruhlman, *Policy Analyst* and Brad Howard, *Wildlife Management Division Chief* reviewed the rule proposal for Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves. Gordon Myers, *Executive Director*, gave a brief update about the Pisgah-Nantahala Forest Plan Review.

AGENCY SPOTLIGHT

NCWRC Capital Forecasting Initiative – Jeff Cole, *Facilities Mechanical Engineer* and Brad Kleinmaier, *Capital Projects Coordinator* provided a spotlight about a program developed with Dude Solutions, by which long-term capital and operational needs for the agency are managed. Staff worked on producing detailed cost projections for improvements and renovations of agency infrastructure. Software functionality, non-building capital investments, Boating Access Area (BAA) components parts such as pavement, bulkheads, docks, and ramps are captured with the program, and a current chart of BAA needs maintained. Equipment and needs are organized by divisions. Through this program there is a 10-year projection of agency needs across the divisions.

LAND AND WATER ACCESS DIVISION

Phase II Land Acquisitions – With Commissioner Monty Crump recused, and on a motion by Tom Berry and second by Mike Johnson, the Commission approved the acquisition by donations of the Hannah Ferry Pump Station Boating Access Area Tract in Rowan County; Malvagno Tract in Haywood County; Pascarella Tract in Burke County; and Cape Fear BASF Tract in New Hanover County presented by Jessie Birckhead in **Exhibits E-1, E-2, E-3, and E-4**. By the same motion the Commission disapproved **Exhibit F**, a landowner request for a powerline right of way on the Long Ridge Tract of Whitehall Plantation in Bladen County. **Exhibits E-1, E-2, E-3, E-4, and F** are incorporated into the official record of this meeting.

RULEMAKING

On a motion by Steve Windham and second by Monty Crump the Commission approved rulemaking Notice of Text and final adoptions for the following, presented by Michael Smallwood, *JD, Policy Analyst for Rules*, in **Exhibits G, H-2, I-2, J-2, K-2, and L-2**:

Temporary Rulemaking Notice of Text – 15A NCAC 10D .0103 – the Commission approved publishing Notice of Text on the website of the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) for a temporary rule amendment correcting the primitive weapons season dates for deer on Nicholson Creek Game Land in Hoke County. **(Exhibit G)**

Temporary Rulemaking Final Adoption – 15A NCAC 10B .0202 – the Commission reviewed public comments and adopted temporary amendments to 15A NCAC 10B .0202 to correct open season for bear in Camden, Chowan, and Pasquotank counties. **(Exhibit H-2)**

Permanent Rulemaking Final Adoption – 15A NCAC 10L .0100 Wildlife Reserve – the Commission reviewed public comments and adopted 15A NCAC 10L .0100 that addresses the activities required for land to qualify for present-use value taxation as wildlife conservation land that creates and is actively and regularly used as a reserve for hunting, fishing shooting, wildlife observation or wildlife activities. **(Exhibit I-2)**

Permanent Rulemaking Final Adoption – 15A NCAC 10G .0601 Totally Disabled Lifetime Licenses – the Commission reviewed public comments and adopted amendments to 15A NCAC 10G .0601 to provide an alternative method for certification of a qualifying disability. **(Exhibit J-2)**

Permanent Rulemaking Final Adoption – 15A NCAC 10B .0114 Dog Training and Field Trials – the Commission reviewed public comments and adopted amendments to 15A NCAC 10B .0114 to provide for the issuance of Field Trial Permits via online portal at ncwildlife.org. **(Exhibit K-2)**

Permanent Rulemaking Final Adoption – 15A NCAC 10H .1003 Taxidermist Records and Reporting Requirements – the Commission reviewed public comments and adopted amendments to 15A NCAC 10H .1003 to institute taxidermy reporting requirements pursuant to the taxidermy cervid certification. **(Exhibit L-2)**

Exhibits G, H-1, H-2, I-1, I-2, J-1, J-2, K-1, K-2, L-1 and L-2 are incorporated into the official record of this meeting.

WATER SAFETY RULEMAKING

On a motion by Wes Seegars and second by Steve Windham, the Commission disapproved final adoption of a temporary water safety rule in **Exhibit M-2** and approved Notices of Text and one Fiscal Note for Exhibits **N, O, P-1, and P-2**, presented by Betsy Haywood, *No Wake Zone Coordinator*:

Temporary Rulemaking Denial of Final Adoption – 15A NCAC 10F .0359 Cherokee County – the Commission reviewed public comments and denied final adoption of temporary rulemaking to correct coordinates of the no-wake zone within 50 yards of the Harbor Cove Marina facility on Hiwassee Lake because the expansion of the marina facility has not been completed. **(Exhibit M-2)**

Permanent Rulemaking Notice of Text – 15A NCAC 10F .0317 Stanly County – the Commission approved publishing Notice of Text in the *NC Register* with an open comment period and public hearing for an amendment for a no-wake zone within 50 yards of the Boathouse and Marina on Lake Tillery in Stanly County. **(Exhibit N)**

Permanent Rulemaking Notice of Text – 15A NCAC 10F .0323 Burke County – the Commission approved publishing Notice of Text in the *NC Register* with an open comment period and public hearing, for an amendment to extend the no-wake zone on Lake James in Burke County shore to shore, northeast of the Highway 126 bridge to south of the Canal Bridge Boating Access Area. **(Exhibit O)**

Fiscal Note Review 15A NCAC 10F .0308 Clay County – the Commission approved the Fiscal Note for rulemaking for no-wake zones on Lake Chatuge in Clay County at Gibson Cove and within 50 yards of the peninsula at Clay County Recreation Park. **(Exhibit P-1)**

Permanent Rulemaking Notice of Text 15A NCAC 10F .0308 Clay County – the Commission approved publishing Notice of Text in the *NC Register* with open comment period and public hearing for amendments on Lake Chatuge in Clay County, to extend the no-wake zone at Gibson Cove, for a no-wake zone within 50 yards of the Peninsula at Clay County Recreation Park, and for a no-wake zone in Dayton Cove. **(Exhibit P-2)**

Exhibits M-1, M-2, N, O, P-1, and P-2 are incorporated into the official record of this meeting.

COMMENTS BY THE CHAIRMAN

Chairman David Hoyle thanked agency staff for their preparations for the webinar meeting and thanked IT Staff for setting up and running the webinar meeting. He thanked Executive Director Myers for his service to the Commission. Hoyle announced that new Executive Director Cameron Ingram will take over on August 3, 2020.

SPECIAL PRESENTATION

Cedar Point Public Fishing and Boating Access Area Named for Gordon Myers – Commissioner Wes Seegars remarked that the Commissioners have been discussing how to honor Gordon Myers for his dedication to the NCWRC, and thought it was fitting to name the Boating Access Area at Cedar Point, which is near Gordon's home in Swansboro, in honor and appreciation for his years as a NCWRC employee and Executive Director. The Cedar Point Public Fishing and Boating Access Area on N.C. Highway 24 in Cedar Point in Carteret County has been renamed the Gordon S. Myers Public Fishing and Boating Access Area at Cedar Point, to memorialize his years of service.

COMMENTS BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Gordon Myers shared his gratitude to the Commissioners. He especially thanked Wes Seegars for his mentorship, as well as the other Chairmen who have worked with Gordon during his years as Executive Director of the agency. Myers noted the importance of people gravitating to nature, especially in this time of pandemic.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, the NCWRC webinar meeting was adjourned at 10:00 a.m.

All exhibits are incorporated into the official record of this meeting by reference and are filed with the minutes.

David Hoyle, Jr., Chairman

Date

Gordon Myers, Executive Director

Date

August 27, 2020

NORTH CAROLINA WILDLIFE RESOURCES COMMISSION
CAFR 52G - STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES and CHANGES in FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020

	FY 2020 General	FY 2020 Capital Improvement	FY 2020 Permanent
REVENUES			
Federal funds	29,643,801.06	8,772,514.00	0.00
Local funds	4,863.65	0.00	0.00
Investment earnings	165,224.95	0.00	2,757,190.04
Sales and services	8,309,459.73	0.00	0.00
Rental and lease of property	46,966.95	0.00	0.00
Fees, licenses and fines	36,635,864.29	0.00	4,624,570.50
Contributions, gifts and grants	1,642,493.22	5,218,151.56	38,510.00
Miscellaneous	509,719.23	0.00	0.00
Appropriations	11,980,559.45	0.00	0.00
TOTAL REVENUES	88,938,952.53	13,990,665.56	7,420,270.54
EXPENDITURES			
Personal services	35,161,960.89	0.00	0.00
Employee benefits	15,166,091.37	0.00	0.00
Contracted personal services	9,984,593.00	365,374.71	0.00
Supplies and materials	7,327,651.49	126,199.23	0.00
Travel	420,942.92	0.00	0.00
Communication	799,768.13	23,469.00	0.00
Utilities	659,831.67	681.58	0.00
Data processing services	649,007.45	0.00	0.00
Other services	3,763,136.62	14,754.00	0.00
Claims and benefits	1,439,255.32	0.00	0.00
Other fixed charges	286,581.54	44,207.31	0.00
Capital outlay	5,894,792.10	15,403,939.20	0.00
Grants, state aid and subsidies	2,160,331.67	0.00	0.00
Insurance and bonding	314,620.20	0.00	0.00
Other expenditures	1,362,235.64	12,413.11	0.00
Reimbursements	-1,095,708.94	0.00	0.00
TOTAL EXPENDITURES	84,295,091.07	15,991,038.14	0.00
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES	4,643,861.46	-2,000,372.58	7,420,270.54
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)			
Sale of capital assets	205,674.44	0.00	0.00
Insurance recoveries	15,640.45	0.00	0.00
Transfers in	3,687,925.45	1,332,009.85	0.00
Transfers out	-8,470,551.85	0.00	-2,153,256.00
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)	-4,561,311.51	1,332,009.85	-2,153,256.00
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES	82,549.95	-668,362.73	5,267,014.54
FUND BALANCE - JULY 1, As previously stated	15,317,893.28	3,983,533.15	133,812,403.02
FUND BALANCE - JUNE 30	15,400,443.23	3,315,170.42	139,079,417.56

NORTH CAROLINA WILDLIFE RESOURCES COMMISSION
WILDLIFE ENDOWMENT FUND
FUND BALANCES AS OF JUNE 30, 2020

BOND INDEX FUND (BIF)	\$93,870,155.60
EQUITY INDEX FUND (EIF)	48,296,288.52
SHORT TERM INVESTMENT FUND (STIF)	3,575,689.67
TOTAL WILDLIFE ENDOWMENT FUND BALANCE AS OF 6/30/2020	<u><u>\$ 145,742,133.79</u></u>

INTEREST INCOME WITHIN FUNDS	EXPENDABLE	NON-EXPENDABLE
ADULT LICENSE SALES	\$27,994,542.62	
INFANT LICENSE SALES		\$12,779,994.86
YOUTH LICENSE SALES		1,168,514.32
CONTRIBUTIONS	1,863,157.63	
WILDLIFE DIVERSITY	2,865.85	
MAGAZINE SALES	1,480,663.91	
	<u>\$ 31,341,230.01</u>	<u>\$ 13,948,509.18</u>

EXPENDABLE INTEREST TRANSFERRED TO OPERATIONS FISCAL YTD
\$2,153,256.00
<u>\$ 2,153,256.00</u>

EXHIBIT C-1
August 27, 2020



Fiscal Note for Proposed Changes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve Rules and Sale of Live Foxes and Coyotes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves Rule

Rule Amendments: 15A NCAC 10H .1201 Definitions and General Requirements
15A NCAC 10H .1202 Establishment and Operation
15A NCAC 10H .1203 Quality of Foxes and Coyotes Released
15A NCAC 10H .1204 Records Required
15A NCAC 10H .1205 Hunting License Required
15A NCAC 10H .1206 Minimum Standards for Care of Foxes and Coyotes
15A NCAC 10H .1207 License Revocation and Enforcement
15A NCAC 10B .0409 Sale of Live Foxes and Coyotes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves

Agency Contact: Carrie Ruhlman
Sr. Policy Analyst
NC Wildlife Resources Commission
1751 Varsity Drive, Raleigh, NC
(919) 707-0011
carrie.ruhlman@ncwildlife.org

Impact Summary: State Government: Yes
Local Government: No
Private Impact: Yes
Substantial Impact: No

Authority: G.S. 14-418(c), 19A-11, 106-549.97(b), 113-131, 113-134, 113-140, 113-272.5, 113-272.6, 113-274, 113-276.2, 113-274, 150B-3

Background

The wildlife resources of the State belong to the people of the State, including the enjoyment of these resources (G.S. 113-131(a)). The Wildlife Resources Commission (hereinafter WRC or Commission) is tasked with the conservation of wildlife resources of the State (G.S. 143-239). This responsibility includes managing, as equitably as possible, the various competing interests regarding these resources, including the use and take of such resources (G.S. 113-131.1(a)). The statutes governing wildlife resources are found in Chapter 113, Subchapter IV of the General Statutes, and WRC has been granted rulemaking authority to implement the provisions of these statutes (G.S. 113-134).

Controlled hunting preserves (CFHPs) are authorized by G.S. 113-273(g) and the Commission is authorized by rule, to set standards for and to license the operation of these preserves by private persons. This same statute also authorizes CFHP operators to purchase live foxes and coyotes from licensed trappers who live-trap foxes and coyotes during open seasons, and sale of live foxes from one licensed preserve to another.

There are currently 134 licensed controlled fox hunting preserves (CFHP) in North Carolina. According to a 2018 study by The Wildlife Management Institute, these preserves (133 at that time) were located in 46 counties and ranged in size from five acres to 1,250 acres.

I. Introduction and Purpose of Rule Change

The rules in 15A NCAC 10H .1200 were part of the agency's 2016 periodic review of rules package. All rules in this Section were determined to be necessary with substantive public interest and are thus required to be readopted.

Because these rules have only been amended once since 1990, for the addition of coyotes, revisions were necessary to update language, clarify requirements and improve regulatory oversight. Additionally, due to the proposed changes to the CFHP rules, the rule regulating live sale of foxes and coyotes to fox preserves also needed to be updated. Agency staff have worked with both licensed CFHP owners/operators and licensed trappers to propose revisions to these rules. The proposed rules can be found in Appendix A.

II. Quantifiable Impacts - Costs

State Impact

The proposed amendments to the CFHP rules and trapping rule are anticipated to have minimal economic impacts to the state.

CFHP Rules

License holders will be required to keep records of all foxes and coyotes released into and removed from their preserve on a form provided by the Commission. This information will allow the Commission to track the number of foxes and coyotes removed from the wild and placed in fox enclosures and aid in understanding the impacts that this activity has (or not) on wild populations. It will also provide information on the movement of foxes and coyotes between preserves to improve understanding of the demand for these animals in preserves. The records will need to be submitted to the Commission prior to the reissuance of a CFHP operator license. The forms do not currently exist and will need to be developed by agency staff prior to implementation. It is estimated that the agency will incur a one-time cost of approximately \$533 for form development ($\$66.67/\text{hr} \times 8 \text{ hrs} = \533). Additionally, the agency estimates an annual recurring cost of approximately \$5,334 per year related to review of records and reissuance of licenses associated with approximately 135 licensed CFHPs ($\$66.67/\text{hr} \times 80 \text{ hrs}/\text{yr} = \$5,334/\text{yr}$).

Trapping Rule

Licensed trappers selling live foxes and/or coyotes to CFHPs will be required to keep records of all foxes and coyotes sold on a form provided by the Commission. This information will allow the Commission to track the number of foxes and coyotes removed from the wild and placed in preserves and aid in understanding the impacts that this activity has (or not) on wild populations. These forms will need to be submitted to the Commission prior to the reissuance of the individual's trapping license. The forms do not currently exist and will need to be developed by agency staff prior to implementation. It is estimated that the agency will incur a one-time cost of approximately \$533 for form development ($\$66.67/\text{hr} \times 8 \text{ hrs} = \533). Additionally, the agency estimates an annual recurring cost of approximately \$2,667 per year related to review of records and reissuance of licenses for approximately 126 trappers ($\$66.67/\text{hr} \times 40 \text{ hrs/yr} = \$2,667/\text{yr}$).¹

Local Impact

The proposed revisions to the CFHP rules and trapping rule are anticipated to have no local government economic impacts.

Private Impact

The proposed revisions to the CFHP rules and trapping rule are expected to have minimal private impacts.

CFHP Rules

Fencing²

The proposed CFHP rules require that preserve boundaries have a minimum four-foot high fence with electrified wires on both the top and bottom to prevent ingress and egress of wildlife and dogs. While the requirement of a dog-proof fence is not new, the details of this requirement are and could create a cost for CFHP owners.

The agency is unaware of any currently licensed CFHPs with fences that are less than four feet high. However, should one exist, there are two options for the preserve to meet the new height requirement - either add a section of fencing to the top of the existing fencing, or fence/re-fence the perimeter of the preserve.

Currently, licensed CFHPs range in size from five acres to approximately 1,250 acres. The actual amount of fencing required to enclose a preserve is dependent on the layout and topography of the property. However, assuming a flat, square, five-acre preserve needing to be completely fenced or re-fenced, a minimum of approximately 1/8 mile, or 1,980 feet, of fencing would be required. A 1,200-acre preserve would require approximately 19 miles, or 100,600 feet, of fencing to encompass a flat, square boundary. Assuming the operator used 16-gauge wire, 2"x 2" mesh, 4-foot fence around the entire perimeter of the preserve, fencing alone could cost anywhere from \$2,220 (20 rolls x \$111/100ft roll = \$2,220) to approximately \$111,666 (1,006 rolls x \$111/100ft roll = \$111,666).

¹ A Comprehensive Review and Evaluation of the North Carolina Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve Program, WMI, 2018.

² Estimated material costs obtained from tractorsupply.com.

Fence posts (6-foot studded T-posts at approximately \$4 each placed every 10 feet around the perimeter of the enclosure) could add approximately \$792 to the expense on a 5 acre property (1,980 feet/10 feet/post = 198 posts x \$4/post = \$792) and approximately \$40,240 to the cost of fencing a 1,200 acre property (100,600 feet/10 ft/post = 10,060 posts x \$4/post = \$40,240). Post knob insulators (two per post) would be an additional \$96 for the 5-acre preserve (396 insulators/25 insulators/package = 16 packages x \$6/package = \$96) and approximately \$4,830 for a 1,200 acre preserve (20,120 insulators/25 insulators/package = 805 packages x \$6/package = \$4,830).

Approximate ¼ mile or 4,000 feet of electric wire and 38 miles or 201,200 feet of electric wire would be required to electrify the top and bottom of the fences of a 5-acre and 1,200-acre facility respectively. Assuming use of 4,000 feet of 14-gage, galvanized electric fence wire connected to a 5-mile electric fence charger, the additional cost for electrifying the fence at a five acre preserve would be approximately \$140 (4,000 feet/1,320 feet/spool = 3 spools x \$30/spool = \$90 + \$50 charger = \$140). Use of 201,200 feet of the same wire and a 60-mile charger, the estimated cost for electrified fencing at a 1,200-acre preserve would be approximately \$3,935 (201,200 feet/ 2,640 feet/spool = 76 spools x \$50/spool = \$3,800 + \$135 charger = \$3,935).

The total estimated cost for fencing a 5-acre CFHP to comply with proposed requirements is approximately \$3,248 (\$2,220 + \$792 + \$96 + \$140 = \$3,248). The total estimated cost for fencing a 1,200-acre CFHP to comply with proposed requirements is approximately \$158,259 (\$111,666 + \$40,240 + \$4,830 + \$3,935 = \$160,671).

Dog Densities

Some CFHPs charge a fee per dog for training events and field trials. The 2018 WMI study found that, of the operators responding, the average fee per dog for paid training events was \$10.50, paid unsanctioned field trials was \$30.80, and paid sanctioned field trials was \$34.02. However, over 90% of these same respondents indicated that the income earned from CFHPs was not important to their households.³

The WRC does not currently regulate the number of dogs on preserves. However, the proposed rule changes will include a maximum number of dogs per acre. Thus, some CFHPs may need to put a limit on the number of dogs they allow into their preserves for training and field trial events. While the agency knows this proposed change has the potential to financially impact some CFHP operators, there is no way, based on available data, to accurately estimate the potential loss of revenue or opportunity for CFHP operators.

III. Quantifiable Impacts - Benefits

State Impact

The proposed changes are expected to have no quantifiable state benefits.

Local Impact

³ A Comprehensive Review and Evaluation of the North Carolina Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve Program, WMI, 2018.

The proposed changes are expected to have no quantifiable local benefits.

Private Impact

The proposed changes are expected to have no quantifiable private benefits.

IV. Unquantifiable Impacts - Costs

Private Impact

CFHP Rules

Acreage

Currently, the smallest licensed CFHP is five acres. The proposed minimum size limit for all CFHPs is five acres. The Commission feels that this minimum standard, in conjunction with other proposed standards, is necessary for the welfare of foxes and coyotes in the preserve. While it is unlikely anyone would want to open a CFHP less than five acres (according to the WMI report, in 2018, only 3.8% of licensed CFHPs were less than 10 acres), it is possible that this proposed size limit could limit opportunities.

Escape Dens

Escape dens for foxes and coyotes are currently required in rule (1 per 35 acres). However, the proposed rule requires a minimum of 3 escape dens regardless of CFHP size to ensure adequate escape for foxes and coyotes regardless of natural habitat in the preserve. It is the agency's understanding that many CFHPs already have more escape dens than are required by rule. However, for smaller preserves impacted by the proposed minimum, there would be a cost associated with compliance, though it would likely only be the addition of one or two escape dens.

Because there is no prescribed way to build an escape den, a stationary manmade structure providing refuge from dogs, there are a variety of structures that could be built to accomplish this purpose. Thus, it is not feasible for the agency to estimate a cost associated with this proposed requirement.

Quarantine

Proposed changes to Rule 10H .1203 include specific details on quarantining facilities when contagious diseases are identified. It is likely that if quarantine is necessary, it would last for a minimum of 30 days. However, because the quarantine could be as a result of anything from a rabies outbreak to a parasite or other disease that persists in the environment, and depopulation of the preserve or contract tracing may be required, it is not feasible to speculate the upper time limit of a potential CFHP quarantine.

While specific costs cannot be attributed or estimated for potential requirements of quarantine, the affected CFHP would be prohibited from removing or introducing foxes and coyotes, may be required to clean or disinfect parts of the facility and may be prohibited from normal operation

by way of temporary license suspension. In addition to the unquantifiable monetary cost of quarantine, a preserve would also lose the opportunity to operate and potentially generate revenue due to the specific requirements added to the rule.

Acclimation

Acclimation is currently required by rule but there are no specific requirements for acclimating newly introduced foxes and coyotes. Proposed changes to 10H .1206 will require new foxes and coyotes be held in an area with no chase by dogs for seven days. This could be a separate area from the preserve where dogs run so the CFHP could still operate while new foxes and/or coyotes are acclimating, or it could be in the CFHP itself. Because all CFHPs are set-up and configured differently, the agency has no way to accurately determine if any monetary or opportunity costs are associated with the proposed acclimation requirements.

Trapping Rule

Record Keeping

Proposed changes to the trapping rule require trappers to keep records of all foxes and coyotes sold, transferred, or exchanged to controlled fox hunting preserves on a form provided by the Commission. These records must be submitted annually prior to reissuance of their trapping license and retained for 12 months. While these record-keeping requirements will not be a cost to the trappers, they will require minimal additional time and effort.

Minimum Standards for Care

The proposed amendments will also limit the holding time for foxes and coyotes trapped for live sale to 30-days after capture to ensure that they are not being held in long-term captivity because they are exempt from long-term holding requirements of a captivity license. Additionally, specific requirements for the trapper to provide food, drinking water and shelter have been proposed. It is unlikely these proposed requirements will introduce any new costs to licensed trappers, as they are already doing these things. However, limiting the holding time could introduce a burden or opportunity cost to trappers wanting to hold the animal longer.

V. Unquantifiable Impacts – Benefits

State Impact

The proposed changes are expected to benefit the state by improving regulatory oversight on fox preserves and fox and coyote trappers selling to preserves. Specifically, the proposed changes will provide information to help the Commission regulate the trapping of foxes and coyotes, regulate transfer of foxes and coyotes to and between preserves, and make more informed decisions on fox and coyote trapping in the future.

Private Impact

The proposed changes are expected to have no quantifiable private benefits to individuals but will provide licensed operators and trappers with clearer, better defined standards and requirements.

VI. Economic Impact Summary

Quantifiable Costs

In estimating the potential economic impact of the proposed amendments to the controlled fox hunting preserve rules and taxidermy rule, few costs identified were quantifiable. These include the following:

State

CFHP

- Form development, annual review, and license administration: Year 1 = \$5,867;
Recurring = \$5,334/year

Trapping

- Form development, annual review, and license administration: Year 1 = \$3,200;
Recurring = \$2,667/year

Based on these estimates, the agency expects a cost of approximately \$9,067 in year one, and a recurring cost of approximately \$8,001 each year thereafter.

Private

CFHP

- Fencing:
 - 5-acre CFHP = \$3,248
 - 1,200-acre CFHP = \$160,671
- Dog Density: Potential loss of \$10.50 to \$30.80 per dog, per training or field trial event

Potential quantifiable private costs range from an estimated one-time cost of \$3,245 to \$160,671 for fencing, to a recurring opportunity cost of \$10.50 - \$30.80 per dog, per event.

Unquantifiable Costs

In estimating the potential economic impact of the proposed amendments to the controlled fox hunting preserve rules and taxidermy rule, several costs and benefits identified were unquantifiable. These include the following:

State

Private

CFHP Costs

- Escape dens
- Minimum acreage restriction
- Quarantine requirements
- Acclimation requirements

Trapping Costs

- Value of trapper's time for record-keeping
- Maximum holding time and care requirements

Unquantifiable Benefits

In estimating the potential economic impact of the proposed amendments to the controlled fox hunting preserve rules and taxidermy rule, several unquantifiable benefits were identified. These include the following:

State

- Improved regulatory oversight
 - Information to help the Commission regulate the trapping of foxes and coyotes,
 - Information to help the Commission regulate transfer of foxes and coyotes to and between preserves.

Private

- Clear, unambiguous standards and requirements for license holders.

Although several proposed changes are accompanied by anticipated fiscal impacts and/or may limit opportunities, the agency does not anticipate significant impact to currently licensed preserves operators or trappers, not does the Commission anticipate fewer opportunities for new licensees. Thus, the anticipated benefits of the proposed rule changes, though unquantifiable, are expected to outweigh the estimated costs.

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1201 ~~LICENSE TO OPERATE~~ DEFINITIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

(a) The Rules in this section apply to all controlled hunting preserve operator licenses issued by the Wildlife Resources Commission (Commission) in accordance with G.S. 113-273(g) for controlled fox hunting preserves.

(b) The following definitions shall apply to all rules in this Section:

- (1) “Acclimation” means an adjustment period to allow foxes and coyotes to become accustomed to the controlled fox hunting preserve.
- (2) “Controlled fox hunting preserve” means an enclosed area where foxes and coyotes are pursued with dogs.
- (3) “Escape den” means a stationary manmade structure that provides refuge for foxes and coyotes from dogs.
- (4) “Dog proof fence” means a perimeter fence designed to prevent the ingress or egress of dogs, foxes, or coyotes over, under, or through the fence.
- (5) “Fox” means red fox and gray fox including their color morphs.

~~(c) It shall be unlawful for any individual, firm, association or corporation~~ Any individual wanting to operate a controlled fox hunting preserve without shall first obtain a controlled hunting preserve operator license from the Commission. ~~North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission a license for this purpose.~~

~~(b) A controlled fox hunting preserve license shall entitle the holder or holders and their guests, to hunt foxes and coyotes at any time within the fenced area. Controlled fox hunting preserve licenses shall not be transferable, either as to operator or as to site of operation.~~

~~(e)(d) Applicants for a controlled hunting preserve operator license shall be prepared to show proof of ownership or lease of the land contained in the proposed controlled fox hunting preserve, preserve or that they have this land under lease for the duration of the license period.~~

~~(e) Application for a controlled fox hunting preserve operator licenses shall be made on forms obtained from the Commission.~~ online at www.ncwildlife.org or at the Commission headquarters located at 1751 Varsity Drive, Raleigh, NC 27606. Information required by the applicant shall include:

- (1) the applicant’s name, address, telephone number, date of birth;
- (2) the preserve name, address, county, acreage, and GPS coordinates of preserve entrance; and
- (3) species within the preserve.

(f) Controlled hunting preserve operator licenses shall not be transferable, either by transferring the license or by relocating the site of the preserve.

~~(d) Upon receipt of an application accompanied by the statutory fee, the Commission shall issue a license, provided it is determined that the location and operation of such a hunting preserve is consistent with the wildlife conservation program and in the public interest; and further provided that all regulations herein regarding establishment of such areas have been complied with.~~

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);
Eff. August 1, 1990;
Amended Eff. June 1, 2004.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1202 ESTABLISHMENT AND OPERATION

~~(a) Size of Preserve. Controlled fox hunting preserves operated for commercial purposes shall be an area of not less than 500 acres except that smaller areas containing terrain and topographical features which offer escape cover to the fox and coyote populations are allowed under specific approval by the Wildlife Resources Commission. Controlled fox hunting preserves shall be at least five (5) acres in size.~~

~~(b) Boundary of Preserve. Unless otherwise approved by the Commission based upon the topography and hydrology of the preserve, A a controlled fox hunting preserve must preserve shall be enclosed with a dog-proof fence that is also designed to prevent the escape of foxes and coyotes released within the pen. This fencing must be maintained at all times. meets the following minimum requirements:~~

- ~~(1) is at least four (4) feet high;~~
- ~~(2) has a top electrified wire at least three (3) feet above the ground surface;~~
- ~~(3) has a bottom electrified wire no more than one (1) foot above the ground surface; and~~
- ~~(4) is free from structures or vegetation purposely placed or allowed to exist that enables wild animals to enter or exit the preserve.~~

~~(c) Escape Dens. A controlled fox hunting preserves shall have a minimum of one escape den per 35 acres with no less than three escape dens.~~

~~(d) Stocking Preserve With with Game. Game: The following shall apply to foxes and coyotes released into a preserve:~~

- ~~(1) only foxes and coyotes may be released onto controlled fox hunting preserves;~~
- ~~(2) In addition to purchasing operators may purchase live foxes and coyotes as provided in from:
 - ~~(A) licensed trappers in accordance with G.S. 113-273(g); operators of controlled fox hunting preserves may also purchase live foxes and coyotes from~~
 - ~~(B) other licensed controlled fox hunting preserves, preserves;~~
 - ~~(C) licensed North Carolina fur propagators, propagators; or~~
 - ~~(D) persons holding foxes or coyotes legally under a North Carolina wildlife captivity license. license.~~~~
- ~~(2)(3) Licensed licensed controlled fox hunting preserve operators may hold legally obtained foxes and coyotes under rules that apply to a captivity license in accordance with food, sanitation, and enclosure requirements in 15A NCAC 10H .1404;~~
- ~~(4) licensed controlled fox hunting preserve operators and may transport legally acquired foxes and coyotes from the place of purchase to the controlled fox hunting preserve. preserve; and~~
- ~~(3)(5) Foxes foxes and coyotes may shall not be imported into North Carolina for release into controlled fox hunting preserves.~~
- ~~(4) The release of exotic wildlife into the controlled fox hunting preserves is specifically prohibited.~~
- ~~(5) The possession of exotic wildlife on controlled fox hunting preserves is specifically prohibited.~~
- ~~(6) individuals transporting live foxes and coyotes to or from a licensed operator shall have a valid transportation permit.~~
- ~~(7) individuals transporting live foxes and coyotes on behalf of a licensed operator shall have a valid transportation permit or a copy of the operator's current license.~~

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

(e) Dog Density. Each controlled fox hunting preserve shall have an upper limit for dog density rounded to the nearest dog as follows:

- (1) fox only preserve: .5 dog per 1 acre;
- (2) fox and coyote preserve: .75 dog per 1 acre; and
- (3) coyote only preserve: 1 dog per 1 acre

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g); 113-291.3(a)
Eff. August 1, 1990;
Amended Eff. June 1, 2004.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1203 QUALITY OF FOXES AND COYOTES RELEASED

(a) All foxes and coyotes ~~purchased~~ purchased, acquired, transferred, released, sold, or raised for release on controlled fox hunting preserves shall ~~be~~ appear visibly healthy and free from ~~disease~~ disease of any kind. ~~An examination and inspection of the foxes and coyotes by the Wildlife Resources Commission may be conducted at any time.~~

(b) All dead foxes and coyotes, except those ~~killed~~ taken by lawful method(s) ~~dogs during a hunt, or diseased foxes and coyotes found within the pen~~ shall be reported to the Commission within 48-hours of discovery. ~~submitted to a North Carolina Department of Agriculture diagnostic lab for diagnosis. A copy of the diagnostic report shall be mailed to the Wildlife Resources Commission. Possession of unhealthy or diseased foxes and coyotes shall be grounds for revocation or denial of a controlled fox hunting preserve license.~~

(c) The Commission may quarantine any controlled fox hunting preserve where contagious diseases are ~~located~~ identified, depending on the type and severity of the disease and the risk to other wildlife or humans. Quarantine may include:

- (1) temporarily prohibiting removal or introduction of foxes and coyotes except as specifically provided by written permit issued by the Commission.
- (2) notification to the county health department;
- (3) cleaning or disinfection of the facility; and
- (4) temporary license suspension.

(d) A quarantine shall not be lifted or cancelled until the Commission determines that there is no longer a threat of disease exposure to foxes, coyotes, domestic dogs or other animals.

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);113-132(b)
Eff. August 1, 1990;
Amended Eff. June 1, 2004.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1204 RECORDS REQUIRED

(a) License holders shall keep an accurate record, on a form provided by the Commission, including bill of sale for all foxes and coyotes released into and or removed from the preserve from licensed trappers, other licensed controlled fox hunting preserves, licensed fur propagators, or persons holding foxes or coyotes legally under a captivity license. released into the controlled fox hunting preserve. Records shall contain the following information:

- (1) preserve operator license, propagator license, or captivity license number, if applicable;
- (2) trapper identification number or name and address, if applicable;
- (3) transportation permit number, if applicable;
- (4) species and quantity of each;
- (5) date of purchase or transfer; and
- (6) county of origin.

(b) Records shall be maintained and available for inspection by officials of representatives of the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission at all times, upon request and during normal operating hours.

(c) Records shall be submitted to the Commission prior to the reissuance of the license.

(d) Records shall be retained by the license holder for 12 months following expiration of the license.

History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);

Eff. August 1, 1990;

Amended Eff. June 1, 2004.

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1205 HUNTING LICENSE REQUIRED

(a) ~~Every person hunting-participating in the pursuit of wildlife on a controlled fox hunting preserve shall have in his possession a proper-valid~~ resident or nonresident hunting license or ~~special-controlled hunting preserve~~ hunting license for the current year as required by law. in his or her possession, in accordance with 15A NCAC 10B .0114.

(b) ~~Nonresidents participating in a Commission-sanctioned field trial-trial, as defined in 15A NCAC 10B .0114, properly approved in advance by a Wildlife Enforcement Officer are exempt from North Carolina licensing requirements in section (a) of this Rule, provided providing they possess-have~~ a valid hunting license from their state of ~~residence-residence in their possession.~~

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);
Eff. August 1, 1990.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1206 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CARE OF FOXES AND COYOTES

~~(a) A minimum of one dog proof escape den for each 35 acres contained in the controlled fox hunting preserve must be provided and maintained.~~

~~(b)(a) Adequate food, Food and clean water water, and cover shall be provided to foxes and coyotes. provided to maintain a viable population of foxes within the controlled fox hunting preserve as follows:~~

- ~~(1) food shall be of a type and quantity that is appropriate for the species; and~~
- ~~(2) a constant supply of drinking water shall be available or provided.~~

~~(c) Since the intent of these rules is to promote a fair chase situation involving a resident population of foxes, the~~

~~(b) operator should make provisions. The following conditions shall apply to acclimate the acclimation of newly introduced foxes and coyotes: to the escape mechanisms located within the pen prior to pursuing the foxes with dogs.~~

- ~~(1) the acclimation period shall be at least seven (7) days;~~
- ~~(2) food and water meeting the requirements in Paragraph (a) of this Rule shall be provided in the area used for acclimation; and~~
- ~~(3) chase by dogs during the acclimation period shall be prohibited.~~

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);
Eff. August 1, 1990.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1207 LICENSE REVOCATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF LICENSE TO OPERATE

(a) Representatives of the Commission shall be permitted to enter the premises of any licensed controlled fox hunting preserve upon request to the license holder or during the preserve’s operating hours for inspection, enforcement, or scientific purposes.

(b) The Executive Director of the Commission or his or her designee may warn, cite, suspend, or revoke a license holder’s controlled hunting preserve operator license if the license holder violates applicable provisions of Subchapter IV of Chapter 113 of the North Carolina General Statutes, certain provisions of G.S. 14-360, the Rules of this Section, or any condition of the license. The determination whether to warn, cite, suspend, or revoke a license shall be based upon the seriousness of the violation, which may include:

- (1) felony animal abuse as specified in G.S. 14-360(a1) and (b) of the North Carolina General Statutes;
- (2) purposefully releasing foxes and coyotes into the wild;
- (3) falsifying records; or
- (4) failing to notify the appropriate agencies after a potential disease exposure or outbreak.

In accordance with provisions of G.S. 113-273(g) the Wildlife Resources Commission may revoke or suspend the license of any controlled fox hunting preserve operator upon violation of these rules.

(c) ~~Where there is evidence of such a violation, the Executive Director or his designee~~ The Commission shall give the ~~operator~~ license holder written notice in accordance with G.S. 113-276.2(e) before revoking a license. ~~20 days notice in writing to show cause to the Executive Director or his designee why his license should not be suspended or revoked.~~

(d) If a fox or coyote is unlawfully possessed, the Commission may determine disposition of the unlawfully possessed animal(s), which may include seizure, release, relocation, or euthanasia.

(e) If the Commission revokes a controlled hunting preserve operator license, the Commission may determine disposition of the animals, which may include seizure, release, relocation, or euthanasia.

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g); 113-276.2;
Eff. August 1, 1990.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10B .0409 SALE OF LIVE FOXES AND COYOTES TO CONTROLLED FOX HUNTING PRESERVES

(a) In counties with a trapping season for foxes and coyotes that do not prohibit live sale, Licensed licensed trappers may, subject to the restrictions on taking foxes in G.S.113- 291.4, live-trap foxes and coyotes during any open trapping that season for foxes and coyotes, and sell them to licensed controlled fox hunting preserves in accordance with the following conditions: conditions set forth in this rule.

(1)(b) Licensed trappers are exempt from eaging, captivity permit or and captivity license requirements set forth in 15A NCAC 10H .0300 for any live-trapped foxes or coyotes trapped for the purpose of sale to controlled fox hunting preserves. This exemption shall apply during the trapping season for foxes and coyotes, and for no more than 40-30 days after the trapping season.

(c) Live-trapped foxes and coyotes shall not be held for more than 30 days after capture.

(d) Licensed trappers shall provide drinking water, food of a type and quantity appropriate for the species, and shelter that protects the foxes and coyotes from direct sunlight and precipitation.

(2)(e) Licensed trappers are shall be exempt from tagging requirements set forth in this Section so long as the foxes are kept alive.

(f) Licensed trappers and any individual(s) transporting live foxes and coyotes shall have a current and valid transportation permit prior to taking possession of the live foxes and coyotes.

(g) Licensed trappers shall keep accurate written records, on a form provided by the Commission, for all foxes and coyotes sold or transferred to a controlled fox hunting preserve. Records shall contain the following information:

- (1) preserve operator license number, if applicable;
- (2) transportation permit number;
- (3) county of origin;
- (4) number of animals of each species;
- (5) date of capture; and
- (6) date of sale or transfer.

(h) Records required pursuant to this Rule shall meet the following requirements:

- (1) available for inspection by representatives of the Commission upon request;
- (2) submitted to and received by the Commission annually by May 1; and
- (3) retained by the trapper for 12 months following transportation permit expiration.

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-274; 113-291.3(4); 113-134; 113-273(g);113-291.4;
Eff. January 1, 1992;
Amended Eff. July 10, 2010; June 1, 2004.*

EXHIBIT C-2

August 27, 2020



Proposed Amendments to 15A NCAC 10H .1200 - Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves Recommended by Agency Staff for Public Notice, Comment, and Presentation at Public Hearing

The rules in 15A NCAC 10H .1200 were part of the agency's 2016 periodic review of rules package. All rules in this Section were determined to be necessary with substantive public interest. Because these rules have only been amended once since 1990, for the addition of coyotes, revisions were necessary to update language, clarify requirements and improve regulatory oversight.

The agency requested and received an extension to the readoption deadline for 10H .1200 rules in March 2019 allowing staff to engage with licensed fox preserve owners/operators to amend the rules. The current readoption deadline is December 31, 2020.

10H .1201

Establishes definitions used throughout 10H .1200 and details standard conditions of controlled hunting preserve operator licenses, including applicant requirements. Proposed changes include the following:

- Updated title of Rule to reflect content;
- Added definitions for terms used throughout the controlled fox hunting preserve rules;
- Detailed application requirements; and
- Removal of vague and unclear language.

10H .1201 Definitions and General Requirements (page 4)

10H .1202

Provides clarification on size and boundary requirements, features within the preserve, stocking and dog densities. Specific changes include the following:

- Minimum preserve size limit;
- Specific fencing requirements to qualify as "dog-proof";
- Minimum escape den requirements;
- Detailed purchase, transfer and transportation requirements for foxes and coyotes; and
- Dog density requirements based on acreage.

10H .1202 Establishment and Operation (pages 5-6)

10H .1203

Provided details on and clarified animal health, reporting, and quarantine requirements. Specific changes include the following:

- Specified that all foxes and coyotes released on the preserve must appear healthy and free from disease;
- Removed redundant language;
- Specified that all dead foxes and coyotes, except those taken by lawful methods, must be reported to the Commission within 48-hours of discovery; and
- Detailed possible quarantine scenarios and lift requirements.

10H .1203 Quality of Foxes and Coyotes Released (page 7)

10H .1204

Provided details on record-keeping requirements for all foxes and coyotes released into or removed from the preserve. Specific changes include the following:

- Commission will provide a form for record-keeping;
- Records must be available to the Commission upon request during normal preserve operating hours;
- Records must be submitted prior to reissuance of the license; and
- Records must be retained by the license holder for 12 months following license expiration.

10H .1204 Records Required (page 8)

10H .1205

Updated language, included references, and provided details on hunting license requirements.

10H .1205 Hunting License Required (page 9)

10H .1206

Updated language and provided details on minimum standards of care. Specific changes include the following:

- Updated title of Rule to reflect content;
- Detailed food and water requirements for foxes and coyotes; and
- Provided details on new fox and coyote acclimation requirements.

10H .1206 Minimum Standards for Care of Foxes and Coyotes (page 10)

10H .1207

Updated language for consistency with other licenses subject to administrative control. Specific changes include the following:

- Updated title of Rule to reflect content;
- Establishes Commission inspection of license holder preserves

- Details criteria under which the Commission may issue warnings, modify, revoke, or suspend licenses;
- Reference to statute regarding notice to revoke; and
- Presents options for disposition of unlawfully possessed and seized wildlife.

10H .1207 License Revocation and Enforcement (page 11)

1 SECTION .1200 - CONTROLLED FOX HUNTING PRESERVES

2
3 **15A NCAC 10H .1201 LICENSE TO OPERATE DEFINITIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS**

4 (a) The Rules in this section apply to all controlled hunting preserve operator licenses issued by the Wildlife Resources
5 Commission (Commission) in accordance with G.S. 113-273(g) for controlled fox hunting preserves.

6 (b) The following definitions shall apply to all rules in this Section:

- 7 (1) “Acclimation” means an adjustment period to allow foxes and coyotes to become accustomed to the
8 controlled fox hunting preserve.
9 (2) “Controlled fox hunting preserve” means an enclosed area where foxes and coyotes are pursued
10 with dogs.
11 (3) “Escape den” means a stationary manmade structure that provides refuge for foxes and coyotes from
12 dogs.
13 (4) “Dog proof fence” means a perimeter fence designed to prevent the ingress or egress of dogs, foxes,
14 or coyotes over, under, or through the fence.
15 (5) “Fox” means red fox and gray fox including their color morphs.

16 ~~(c) It shall be unlawful for any individual, firm, association or corporation~~ Any individual wanting to operate a
17 controlled fox hunting preserve without shall first obtain a controlled hunting preserve operator license from the
18 ~~Commission, North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission a license for this purpose.~~

19 ~~(b) A controlled fox hunting preserve license shall entitle the holder or holders and their guests, to hunt foxes and~~
20 ~~coyotes at any time within the fenced area. Controlled fox hunting preserve licenses shall not be transferable, either~~
21 ~~as to operator or as to site of operation.~~

22 ~~(d)~~ (d) Applicants for a controlled hunting preserve operator license shall be prepared to show proof of ownership or
23 lease of the land contained in the proposed controlled fox hunting preserve, preserve or that they have this land under
24 lease for the duration of the license period.

25 (e) Application for a controlled fox hunting preserve operator licenses shall be made on forms obtained from the
26 ~~Commission, online at www.ncwildlife.org or at the Commission headquarters located at 1751 Varsity Drive, Raleigh,~~
27 NC 27606. Information required by the applicant shall include:

- 28 (1) the applicant’s name, address, telephone number, date of birth;
29 (2) the preserve name, address, county, acreage, and GPS coordinates of preserve entrance; and
30 (3) species within the preserve.

31 (f) Controlled hunting preserve operator licenses shall not be transferable, either by transferring the license or by
32 relocating the site of the preserve.

33 ~~(g)~~ (g) Upon receipt of an application accompanied by the statutory license fee, the Commission shall issue a controlled
34 fox hunting preserve operator license, provided it is determined that the location and operation of such a hunting
35 preserve is consistent with the wildlife conservation program and in the public interest; and further provided that all
36 ~~regulations herein~~ the Rules in this Section regarding establishment of such areas have been complied with.

1 **15A NCAC 10H .1202 ESTABLISHMENT AND OPERATION**

2 (a) ~~Size of Preserve. Controlled fox hunting preserves operated for commercial purposes shall be an area of not less~~
3 ~~than 500 acres except that smaller areas containing terrain and topographical features which offer escape cover to the~~
4 ~~fox and coyote populations are allowed under specific approval by the Wildlife Resources Commission. Controlled~~
5 ~~fox hunting preserves shall be at least five (5) acres in size.~~

6 (b) ~~Boundary of Preserve. Unless otherwise approved by the Commission based upon the topography and hydrology~~
7 ~~of the preserve, A a controlled fox hunting preserve must preserve shall be enclosed with a dog-proof fence that is~~
8 ~~also designed to prevent the escape of foxes and coyotes released within the pen. This fencing must be maintained at~~
9 ~~all times. meets the following minimum requirements:~~

- 10 (1) is at least four (4) feet high;
- 11 (2) has a top electrified wire at least three (3) feet above the ground surface;
- 12 (3) has a bottom electrified wire no more than one (1) foot above the ground surface; and
- 13 (4) is free from structures or vegetation purposely placed or allowed to exist that enables wild animals
14 to enter or exit the preserve.

15 (c) Escape Dens. Controlled fox hunting preserves less than 106 acres shall have a minimum of three escape dens.
16 Those preserves equal to or greater than 106 acres shall have one additional escape den per 1-35 acre interval
17 thereafter.

18 (d) ~~Stocking Preserve With with Game. Game:~~ The following shall apply to foxes and coyotes released into a preserve:

- 19 (1) only foxes and coyotes may be released onto controlled fox hunting preserves;
- 20 (2) ~~In addition to purchasing operators may purchase live foxes and coyotes as provided in from:~~
 - 21 (A) licensed trappers in accordance with G.S. 113-273(g), 113-273(g); operators of
22 controlled fox hunting preserves may also purchase live foxes and coyotes from
 - 23 (B) other licensed controlled fox hunting preserves, preserves;
 - 24 (C) licensed North Carolina fur propagators, propagators; or
 - 25 (D) persons holding foxes or coyotes legally under a North Carolina wildlife captivity
26 license. license.
- 27 (2)(3) ~~Licensed licensed~~ controlled fox hunting preserve operators may hold legally obtained foxes and
28 coyotes under rules that apply to a captivity license in accordance with food, sanitation, and
29 enclosure requirements in 15A NCAC 10H .1404;
- 30 (4) licensed controlled fox hunting preserve operators and may transport legally acquired foxes and
31 coyotes from the place of purchase to the controlled fox hunting preserve. preserve; and
- 32 (3)(5) ~~Foxes foxes~~ and coyotes may shall not be imported into North Carolina for release into controlled
33 fox hunting preserves.
- 34 (4) ~~The release of exotic wildlife into the controlled fox hunting preserves is specifically prohibited.~~
- 35 (5) ~~The possession of exotic wildlife on controlled fox hunting preserves is specifically prohibited.~~
- 36 (6) individuals transporting live foxes and coyotes to or from a licensed operator shall have a valid
37 transportation permit.

1 (7) individuals transporting live foxes and coyotes on behalf of a licensed operator shall have a valid
2 transportation permit or a copy of the operator's current license.

3 (e) Dog Density. Each controlled fox hunting preserve shall have an upper limit for dog density rounded to the nearest
4 dog as follows:

5 (1) fox only preserve: .5 dog per 1 acre;

6 (2) fox and coyote preserve: .75 dog per 1 acre; and

7 (3) coyote only preserve: 1 dog per 1 acre

8

9

1 **15A NCAC 10H .1203 QUALITY OF FOXES AND COYOTES RELEASED**

2 ~~(a) All foxes and coyotes purchased~~ purchased, acquired, transferred, released, sold, or raised for release on controlled
3 fox hunting preserves shall be appear visibly healthy and free from disease. ~~disease of any kind. An examination and~~
4 ~~inspection of the foxes and coyotes by the Wildlife Resources Commission may be conducted at any time.~~

5 ~~(b) All dead foxes and coyotes, except those killed~~ taken by lawful method(s) dogs during a hunt, or diseased foxes
6 ~~and coyotes found within the pen shall be reported to the Commission within 48-hours of discovery.~~ submitted to a
7 North Carolina Department of Agriculture diagnostic lab for diagnosis. A copy of the diagnostic report shall be mailed
8 ~~to the Wildlife Resources Commission. Possession of unhealthy or diseased foxes and coyotes shall be grounds for~~
9 ~~revocation or denial of a controlled fox hunting preserve license.~~

10 ~~(c) The Commission may quarantine any controlled fox hunting preserve where contagious diseases are located.~~
11 identified, depending on the type and severity of the disease and the risk to other wildlife or humans. Quarantine may
12 include:

- 13 (1) temporarily prohibiting removal or introduction of foxes and coyotes except as specifically provided
14 by written permit issued by the Commission.
- 15 (2) notification to the county health department;
- 16 (3) cleaning or disinfection of the facility; and
- 17 (4) temporary license suspension.

18 ~~(d) A quarantine shall not be lifted or cancelled until the Commission determines that there is no longer a threat of~~
19 disease exposure to humans, foxes, coyotes, domestic dogs or other animals.

1 **15A NCAC 10H .1204 RECORDS REQUIRED**

2 ~~(a) License holders shall keep an accurate record~~ record, on a form provided by the Commission, ~~including bill of sale~~
3 for all foxes and coyotes ~~released into and~~ or removed from the preserve from licensed trappers, other licensed
4 ~~controlled fox hunting preserves, licensed fur propagators, or persons holding foxes or coyotes legally under a~~
5 ~~captivity license. released into the controlled fox hunting preserve~~ Records shall contain the following information:

- 6 (1) preserve operator license, propagator license, or captivity license number, if applicable;
- 7 (2) trapper identification number or name and address, if applicable;
- 8 (3) transportation permit number, if applicable;
- 9 (4) species and quantity of each;
- 10 (5) date of purchase or transfer; and
- 11 (6) county of origin.

12 ~~(b) Records shall be maintained and~~ available for inspection by ~~officials of representatives of the North Carolina~~
13 ~~Wildlife Resources Commission at all times.~~ upon request and during normal operating hours.

14 (c) Records shall be submitted to the Commission prior to the reissuance of the license.

15 (d) Records shall be retained by the license holder for 12 months following expiration of the license.

1 **15A NCAC 10H .1205 HUNTING LICENSE REQUIRED**

2 (a) Every person ~~hunting-participating in the pursuit of wildlife~~ on a controlled fox hunting preserve shall have ~~in his~~
3 ~~possession a proper-valid~~ resident or nonresident hunting license or ~~special-controlled hunting preserve~~ hunting license
4 ~~for the current year as required by law.~~ in his or her possession, in accordance with 15A NCAC 10B .0114.

5 (b) Nonresidents participating in a Commission-sanctioned ~~field trial-trial~~, as defined in 15A NCAC 10B .0114,
6 ~~properly approved in advance by a Wildlife Enforcement Officer~~ are exempt from ~~North Carolina~~ licensing
7 requirements in section (a) of this Rule, provided ~~providing~~ they ~~possess~~ have a valid hunting license from their state
8 of ~~residence-residence~~ in their possession.

9

1 **15A NCAC 10H .1206 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CARE OF FOXES AND COYOTES**

2 ~~(a) A minimum of one dog proof escape den for each 35 acres contained in the controlled fox hunting preserve must~~
3 ~~be provided and maintained.~~

4 ~~(b)(a) Adequate food, Food and clean water, and cover shall be provided to foxes and coyotes. provided to~~
5 ~~maintain a viable population of foxes within the controlled fox hunting preserve as follows:~~

6 (1) food shall be of a type and quantity that is appropriate for the species; and

7 (2) a constant supply of drinking water shall be available or provided.

8 ~~(c) Since the intent of these rules is to promote a fair chase situation involving a resident population of foxes, the~~

9 ~~(b) operator should make provisions. The following conditions shall apply to acclimate~~ the acclimation of newly
10 introduced foxes and coyotes: to the escape mechanisms located within the pen prior to pursuing the foxes with dogs.

11 (1) the acclimation period shall be at least seven (7) days;

12 (2) food and water meeting the requirements in Paragraph (a) of this Rule shall be provided in the area
13 used for acclimation; and

14 (3) chase by dogs during the acclimation period shall be prohibited.

15

16

1 **15A NCAC 10H .1207 LICENSE REVOCATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF LICENSE TO OPERATE**

2 (a) Representatives of the Commission shall be permitted to enter the premises of any licensed controlled fox hunting
3 preserve upon request to the license holder or during the preserve's operating hours for inspection, enforcement, or
4 scientific purposes.

5 (b) The Executive Director of the Commission or his or her designee may warn, cite, suspend, or revoke a license
6 holder's controlled hunting preserve operator license if the license holder violates applicable provisions of Subchapter
7 IV of Chapter 113 of the North Carolina General Statutes, certain provisions of G.S. 14-360, the Rules of this Section,
8 or any condition of the license. The determination whether to warn, cite, suspend, or revoke a license shall be based
9 upon the seriousness of the violation, which may include:

- 10 (1) felony animal abuse as specified in G.S. 14-360(a1) and (b) of the North Carolina General Statutes;
- 11 (2) purposefully releasing foxes and coyotes into the wild;
- 12 (3) falsifying records; or
- 13 (4) failing to notify the appropriate agencies after a potential disease exposure or outbreak.

14 In accordance with provisions of G.S. 113-273(g) the Wildlife Resources Commission may revoke or suspend the
15 license of any controlled fox hunting preserve operator upon violation of these rules.

16 (c) ~~Where there is evidence of such a violation, the Executive Director or his designee~~ The Commission shall give the
17 ~~operator license holder~~ written notice in accordance with G.S. 113-276.2(e) before revoking a license. ~~20 days notice~~
18 ~~in writing to show cause to the Executive Director or his designee why his license should not be suspended or revoked.~~

19 (d) If a fox or coyote is unlawfully possessed, the Commission may determine disposition of the unlawfully possessed
20 animal(s), which may include seizure, release, relocation, or euthanasia.

21 (e) If the Commission revokes a controlled hunting preserve operator license, the Commission may determine
22 disposition of the animals, which may include seizure, release, relocation, or euthanasia.

23
24

EXHIBIT D-1
August 27, 2020



Fiscal Note for Proposed Changes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve Rules and Sale of Live Foxes and Coyotes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves Rule

Rule Amendments: 15A NCAC 10H .1201 Definitions and General Requirements
15A NCAC 10H .1202 Establishment and Operation
15A NCAC 10H .1203 Quality of Foxes and Coyotes Released
15A NCAC 10H .1204 Records Required
15A NCAC 10H .1205 Hunting License Required
15A NCAC 10H .1206 Minimum Standards for Care of Foxes and Coyotes
15A NCAC 10H .1207 License Revocation and Enforcement
15A NCAC 10B .0409 Sale of Live Foxes and Coyotes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves

Agency Contact: Carrie Ruhlman
Sr. Policy Analyst
NC Wildlife Resources Commission
1751 Varsity Drive, Raleigh, NC
(919) 707-0011
carrie.ruhlman@ncwildlife.org

Impact Summary: State Government: Yes
Local Government: No
Private Impact: Yes
Substantial Impact: No

Authority: G.S. 14-418(c), 19A-11, 106-549.97(b), 113-131, 113-134, 113-140, 113-272.5, 113-272.6, 113-274, 113-276.2, 113-274, 150B-3

Background

The wildlife resources of the State belong to the people of the State, including the enjoyment of these resources (G.S. 113-131(a)). The Wildlife Resources Commission (hereinafter WRC or Commission) is tasked with the conservation of wildlife resources of the State (G.S. 143-239). This responsibility includes managing, as equitably as possible, the various competing interests regarding these resources, including the use and take of such resources (G.S. 113-131.1(a)). The statutes governing wildlife resources are found in Chapter 113, Subchapter IV of the General Statutes, and WRC has been granted rulemaking authority to implement the provisions of these statutes (G.S. 113-134).

Controlled hunting preserves (CFHPs) are authorized by G.S. 113-273(g) and the Commission is authorized by rule, to set standards for and to license the operation of these preserves by private persons. This same statute also authorizes CFHP operators to purchase live foxes and coyotes from licensed trappers who live-trap foxes and coyotes during open seasons, and sale of live foxes from one licensed preserve to another.

There are currently 134 licensed controlled fox hunting preserves (CFHP) in North Carolina. According to a 2018 study by The Wildlife Management Institute, these preserves (133 at that time) were located in 46 counties and ranged in size from five acres to 1,250 acres.

I. Introduction and Purpose of Rule Change

The rules in 15A NCAC 10H .1200 were part of the agency's 2016 periodic review of rules package. All rules in this Section were determined to be necessary with substantive public interest and are thus required to be readopted.

Because these rules have only been amended once since 1990, for the addition of coyotes, revisions were necessary to update language, clarify requirements and improve regulatory oversight. Additionally, due to the proposed changes to the CFHP rules, the rule regulating live sale of foxes and coyotes to fox preserves also needed to be updated. Agency staff have worked with both licensed CFHP owners/operators and licensed trappers to propose revisions to these rules. The proposed rules can be found in Appendix A.

II. Quantifiable Impacts - Costs

State Impact

The proposed amendments to the CFHP rules and trapping rule are anticipated to have minimal economic impacts to the state.

CFHP Rules

License holders will be required to keep records of all foxes and coyotes released into and removed from their preserve on a form provided by the Commission. This information will allow the Commission to track the number of foxes and coyotes removed from the wild and placed in fox enclosures and aid in understanding the impacts that this activity has (or not) on wild populations. It will also provide information on the movement of foxes and coyotes between preserves to improve understanding of the demand for these animals in preserves. The records will need to be submitted to the Commission prior to the reissuance of a CFHP operator license. The forms do not currently exist and will need to be developed by agency staff prior to implementation. It is estimated that the agency will incur a one-time cost of approximately \$533 for form development ($\$66.67/\text{hr} \times 8 \text{ hrs} = \533). Additionally, the agency estimates an annual recurring cost of approximately \$5,334 per year related to review of records and reissuance of licenses associated with approximately 135 licensed CFHPs ($\$66.67/\text{hr} \times 80 \text{ hrs/yr} = \$5,334/\text{yr}$).

Trapping Rule

Licensed trappers selling live foxes and/or coyotes to CFHPs will be required to keep records of all foxes and coyotes sold on a form provided by the Commission. This information will allow the Commission to track the number of foxes and coyotes removed from the wild and placed in preserves and aid in understanding the impacts that this activity has (or not) on wild populations. These forms will need to be submitted to the Commission prior to the reissuance of the individual's trapping license. The forms do not currently exist and will need to be developed by agency staff prior to implementation. It is estimated that the agency will incur a one-time cost of approximately \$533 for form development ($\$66.67/\text{hr} \times 8 \text{ hrs} = \533). Additionally, the agency estimates an annual recurring cost of approximately \$2,667 per year related to review of records and reissuance of licenses for approximately 126 trappers ($\$66.67/\text{hr} \times 40 \text{ hrs/yr} = \$2,667/\text{yr}$).¹

Local Impact

The proposed revisions to the CFHP rules and trapping rule are anticipated to have no local government economic impacts.

Private Impact

The proposed revisions to the CFHP rules and trapping rule are expected to have minimal private impacts.

CFHP Rules

Fencing²

The proposed CFHP rules require that preserve boundaries have a minimum four-foot high fence with electrified wires on both the top and bottom to prevent ingress and egress of wildlife and dogs. While the requirement of a dog-proof fence is not new, the details of this requirement are and could create a cost for CFHP owners.

The agency is unaware of any currently licensed CFHPs with fences that are less than four feet high. However, should one exist, there are two options for the preserve to meet the new height requirement - either add a section of fencing to the top of the existing fencing, or fence/re-fence the perimeter of the preserve.

Currently, licensed CFHPs range in size from five acres to approximately 1,250 acres. The actual amount of fencing required to enclose a preserve is dependent on the layout and topography of the property. However, assuming a flat, square, five-acre preserve needing to be completely fenced or re-fenced, a minimum of approximately 1/8 mile, or 1,980 feet, of fencing would be required. A 1,200-acre preserve would require approximately 19 miles, or 100,600 feet, of fencing to encompass a flat, square boundary. Assuming the operator used 16-gauge wire, 2"x 2" mesh, 4-foot fence around the entire perimeter of the preserve, fencing alone could cost anywhere from \$2,220 (20 rolls x \$111/100ft roll = \$2,220) to approximately \$111,666 (1,006 rolls x \$111/100ft roll = \$111,666).

¹ A Comprehensive Review and Evaluation of the North Carolina Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve Program, WMI, 2018.

² Estimated material costs obtained from tractorsupply.com.

Fence posts (6-foot studded T-posts at approximately \$4 each placed every 10 feet around the perimeter of the enclosure) could add approximately \$792 to the expense on a 5 acre property (1,980 feet/10 feet/post = 198 posts x \$4/post = \$792) and approximately \$40,240 to the cost of fencing a 1,200 acre property (100,600 feet/10 ft/post = 10,060 posts x \$4/post = \$40,240). Post knob insulators (two per post) would be an additional \$96 for the 5-acre preserve (396 insulators/25 insulators/package = 16 packages x \$6/package = \$96) and approximately \$4,830 for a 1,200 acre preserve (20,120 insulators/25 insulators/package = 805 packages x \$6/package = \$4,830).

Approximate ¼ mile or 4,000 feet of electric wire and 38 miles or 201,200 feet of electric wire would be required to electrify the top and bottom of the fences of a 5-acre and 1,200-acre facility respectively. Assuming use of 4,000 feet of 14-gage, galvanized electric fence wire connected to a 5-mile electric fence charger, the additional cost for electrifying the fence at a five acre preserve would be approximately \$140 (4,000 feet/1,320 feet/spool = 3 spools x \$30/spool = \$90 + \$50 charger = \$140). Use of 201,200 feet of the same wire and a 60-mile charger, the estimated cost for electrified fencing at a 1,200-acre preserve would be approximately \$3,935 (201,200 feet/ 2,640 feet/spool = 76 spools x \$50/spool = \$3,800 + \$135 charger = \$3,935).

The total estimated cost for fencing a 5-acre CFHP to comply with proposed requirements is approximately \$3,248 (\$2,220 + \$792 + \$96 + \$140 = \$3,248). The total estimated cost for fencing a 1,200-acre CFHP to comply with proposed requirements is approximately \$158,259 (\$111,666 + \$40,240 + \$4,830 + \$3,935 = \$160,671).

Dog Densities

Some CFHPs charge a fee per dog for training events and field trials. The 2018 WMI study found that, of the operators responding, the average fee per dog for paid training events was \$10.50, paid unsanctioned field trials was \$30.80, and paid sanctioned field trials was \$34.02. However, over 90% of these same respondents indicated that the income earned from CFHPs was not important to their households.³

The WRC does not currently regulate the number of dogs on preserves. However, the proposed rule changes will include a maximum number of dogs per acre. Thus, some CFHPs may need to put a limit on the number of dogs they allow into their preserves for training and field trial events. While the agency knows this proposed change has the potential to financially impact some CFHP operators, there is no way, based on available data, to accurately estimate the potential loss of revenue or opportunity for CFHP operators.

III. Quantifiable Impacts - Benefits

State Impact

The proposed changes are expected to have no quantifiable state benefits.

Local Impact

³ A Comprehensive Review and Evaluation of the North Carolina Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve Program, WMI, 2018.

The proposed changes are expected to have no quantifiable local benefits.

Private Impact

The proposed changes are expected to have no quantifiable private benefits.

IV. Unquantifiable Impacts - Costs

Private Impact

CFHP Rules

Acreage

Currently, the smallest licensed CFHP is five acres. The proposed minimum size limit for all CFHPs is five acres. The Commission feels that this minimum standard, in conjunction with other proposed standards, is necessary for the welfare of foxes and coyotes in the preserve. While it is unlikely anyone would want to open a CFHP less than five acres (according to the WMI report, in 2018, only 3.8% of licensed CFHPs were less than 10 acres), it is possible that this proposed size limit could limit opportunities.

Escape Dens

Escape dens for foxes and coyotes are currently required in rule (1 per 35 acres). However, the proposed rule requires a minimum of 3 escape dens regardless of CFHP size to ensure adequate escape for foxes and coyotes regardless of natural habitat in the preserve. It is the agency's understanding that many CFHPs already have more escape dens than are required by rule. However, for smaller preserves impacted by the proposed minimum, there would be a cost associated with compliance, though it would likely only be the addition of one or two escape dens.

Because there is no prescribed way to build an escape den, a stationary manmade structure providing refuge from dogs, there are a variety of structures that could be built to accomplish this purpose. Thus, it is not feasible for the agency to estimate a cost associated with this proposed requirement.

Quarantine

Proposed changes to Rule 10H .1203 include specific details on quarantining facilities when contagious diseases are identified. It is likely that if quarantine is necessary, it would last for a minimum of 30 days. However, because the quarantine could be as a result of anything from a rabies outbreak to a parasite or other disease that persists in the environment, and depopulation of the preserve or contract tracing may be required, it is not feasible to speculate the upper time limit of a potential CFHP quarantine.

While specific costs cannot be attributed or estimated for potential requirements of quarantine, the affected CFHP would be prohibited from removing or introducing foxes and coyotes, may be required to clean or disinfect parts of the facility and may be prohibited from normal operation

by way of temporary license suspension. In addition to the unquantifiable monetary cost of quarantine, a preserve would also lose the opportunity to operate and potentially generate revenue due to the specific requirements added to the rule.

Acclimation

Acclimation is currently required by rule but there are no specific requirements for acclimating newly introduced foxes and coyotes. Proposed changes to 10H .1206 will require new foxes and coyotes be held in an area with no chase by dogs for seven days. This could be a separate area from the preserve where dogs run so the CFHP could still operate while new foxes and/or coyotes are acclimating, or it could be in the CFHP itself. Because all CFHPs are set-up and configured differently, the agency has no way to accurately determine if any monetary or opportunity costs are associated with the proposed acclimation requirements.

Trapping Rule

Record Keeping

Proposed changes to the trapping rule require trappers to keep records of all foxes and coyotes sold, transferred, or exchanged to controlled fox hunting preserves on a form provided by the Commission. These records must be submitted annually prior to reissuance of their trapping license and retained for 12 months. While these record-keeping requirements will not be a cost to the trappers, they will require minimal additional time and effort.

Minimum Standards for Care

The proposed amendments will also limit the holding time for foxes and coyotes trapped for live sale to 30-days after capture to ensure that they are not being held in long-term captivity because they are exempt from long-term holding requirements of a captivity license. Additionally, specific requirements for the trapper to provide food, drinking water and shelter have been proposed. It is unlikely these proposed requirements will introduce any new costs to licensed trappers, as they are already doing these things. However, limiting the holding time could introduce a burden or opportunity cost to trappers wanting to hold the animal longer.

V. Unquantifiable Impacts – Benefits

State Impact

The proposed changes are expected to benefit the state by improving regulatory oversight on fox preserves and fox and coyote trappers selling to preserves. Specifically, the proposed changes will provide information to help the Commission regulate the trapping of foxes and coyotes, regulate transfer of foxes and coyotes to and between preserves, and make more informed decisions on fox and coyote trapping in the future.

Private Impact

The proposed changes are expected to have no quantifiable private benefits to individuals but will provide licensed operators and trappers with clearer, better defined standards and requirements.

VI. Economic Impact Summary

Quantifiable Costs

In estimating the potential economic impact of the proposed amendments to the controlled fox hunting preserve rules and taxidermy rule, few costs identified were quantifiable. These include the following:

State

CFHP

- Form development, annual review, and license administration: Year 1 = \$5,867;
Recurring = \$5,334/year

Trapping

- Form development, annual review, and license administration: Year 1 = \$3,200;
Recurring = \$2,667/year

Based on these estimates, the agency expects a cost of approximately \$9,067 in year one, and a recurring cost of approximately \$8,001 each year thereafter.

Private

CFHP

- Fencing:
 - 5-acre CFHP = \$3,248
 - 1,200-acre CFHP = \$160,671
- Dog Density: Potential loss of \$10.50 to \$30.80 per dog, per training or field trial event

Potential quantifiable private costs range from an estimated one-time cost of \$3,245 to \$160,671 for fencing, to a recurring opportunity cost of \$10.50 - \$30.80 per dog, per event.

Unquantifiable Costs

In estimating the potential economic impact of the proposed amendments to the controlled fox hunting preserve rules and taxidermy rule, several costs and benefits identified were unquantifiable. These include the following:

State

Private

CFHP Costs

- Escape dens
- Minimum acreage restriction
- Quarantine requirements
- Acclimation requirements

Trapping Costs

- Value of trapper's time for record-keeping
- Maximum holding time and care requirements

Unquantifiable Benefits

In estimating the potential economic impact of the proposed amendments to the controlled fox hunting preserve rules and taxidermy rule, several unquantifiable benefits were identified. These include the following:

State

- Improved regulatory oversight
 - Information to help the Commission regulate the trapping of foxes and coyotes,
 - Information to help the Commission regulate transfer of foxes and coyotes to and between preserves.

Private

- Clear, unambiguous standards and requirements for license holders.

Although several proposed changes are accompanied by anticipated fiscal impacts and/or may limit opportunities, the agency does not anticipate significant impact to currently licensed preserves operators or trappers, not does the Commission anticipate fewer opportunities for new licensees. Thus, the anticipated benefits of the proposed rule changes, though unquantifiable, are expected to outweigh the estimated costs.

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1201 ~~LICENSE TO OPERATE~~ DEFINITIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

(a) The Rules in this section apply to all controlled hunting preserve operator licenses issued by the Wildlife Resources Commission (Commission) in accordance with G.S. 113-273(g) for controlled fox hunting preserves.

(b) The following definitions shall apply to all rules in this Section:

- (1) “Acclimation” means an adjustment period to allow foxes and coyotes to become accustomed to the controlled fox hunting preserve.
- (2) “Controlled fox hunting preserve” means an enclosed area where foxes and coyotes are pursued with dogs.
- (3) “Escape den” means a stationary manmade structure that provides refuge for foxes and coyotes from dogs.
- (4) “Dog proof fence” means a perimeter fence designed to prevent the ingress or egress of dogs, foxes, or coyotes over, under, or through the fence.
- (5) “Fox” means red fox and gray fox including their color morphs.

~~(c) It shall be unlawful for any individual, firm, association or corporation~~ Any individual wanting to operate a controlled fox hunting preserve without shall first obtain a controlled hunting preserve operator license from the Commission. ~~North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission a license for this purpose.~~

~~(b) A controlled fox hunting preserve license shall entitle the holder or holders and their guests, to hunt foxes and coyotes at any time within the fenced area. Controlled fox hunting preserve licenses shall not be transferable, either as to operator or as to site of operation.~~

~~(e)(d) Applicants for a controlled hunting preserve operator license shall be prepared to show proof of ownership or lease of the land contained in the proposed controlled fox hunting preserve, preserve or that they have this land under lease for the duration of the license period.~~

~~(e) Application for a controlled fox hunting preserve operator licenses shall be made on forms obtained from the Commission.~~ online at www.ncwildlife.org or at the Commission headquarters located at 1751 Varsity Drive, Raleigh, NC 27606. Information required by the applicant shall include:

- (1) the applicant’s name, address, telephone number, date of birth;
- (2) the preserve name, address, county, acreage, and GPS coordinates of preserve entrance; and
- (3) species within the preserve.

(f) Controlled hunting preserve operator licenses shall not be transferable, either by transferring the license or by relocating the site of the preserve.

~~(d) Upon receipt of an application accompanied by the statutory fee, the Commission shall issue a license, provided it is determined that the location and operation of such a hunting preserve is consistent with the wildlife conservation program and in the public interest; and further provided that all regulations herein regarding establishment of such areas have been complied with.~~

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);
Eff. August 1, 1990;
Amended Eff. June 1, 2004.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1202 ESTABLISHMENT AND OPERATION

~~(a) Size of Preserve. Controlled fox hunting preserves operated for commercial purposes shall be an area of not less than 500 acres except that smaller areas containing terrain and topographical features which offer escape cover to the fox and coyote populations are allowed under specific approval by the Wildlife Resources Commission. Controlled fox hunting preserves shall be at least five (5) acres in size.~~

~~(b) Boundary of Preserve. Unless otherwise approved by the Commission based upon the topography and hydrology of the preserve, A a controlled fox hunting preserve must preserve shall be enclosed with a dog-proof fence that is also designed to prevent the escape of foxes and coyotes released within the pen. This fencing must be maintained at all times. meets the following minimum requirements:~~

- ~~(1) is at least four (4) feet high;~~
- ~~(2) has a top electrified wire at least three (3) feet above the ground surface;~~
- ~~(3) has a bottom electrified wire no more than one (1) foot above the ground surface; and~~
- ~~(4) is free from structures or vegetation purposely placed or allowed to exist that enables wild animals to enter or exit the preserve.~~

~~(c) Escape Dens. A controlled fox hunting preserves shall have a minimum of one escape den per 35 acres with no less than three escape dens.~~

~~(d) Stocking Preserve With with Game. Game: The following shall apply to foxes and coyotes released into a preserve:~~

- ~~(1) only foxes and coyotes may be released onto controlled fox hunting preserves;~~
- ~~(2) In addition to purchasing operators may purchase live foxes and coyotes as provided in from:
 - ~~(A) licensed trappers in accordance with G.S. 113-273(g); operators of controlled fox hunting preserves may also purchase live foxes and coyotes from~~
 - ~~(B) other licensed controlled fox hunting preserves, preserves;~~
 - ~~(C) licensed North Carolina fur propagators, propagators; or~~
 - ~~(D) persons holding foxes or coyotes legally under a North Carolina wildlife captivity license. license.~~~~
- ~~(2)(3) Licensed licensed controlled fox hunting preserve operators may hold legally obtained foxes and coyotes under rules that apply to a captivity license in accordance with food, sanitation, and enclosure requirements in 15A NCAC 10H .1404;~~
- ~~(4) licensed controlled fox hunting preserve operators and may transport legally acquired foxes and coyotes from the place of purchase to the controlled fox hunting preserve. preserve; and~~
- ~~(3)(5) Foxes foxes and coyotes may shall not be imported into North Carolina for release into controlled fox hunting preserves.~~
- ~~(4) The release of exotic wildlife into the controlled fox hunting preserves is specifically prohibited.~~
- ~~(5) The possession of exotic wildlife on controlled fox hunting preserves is specifically prohibited.~~
- ~~(6) individuals transporting live foxes and coyotes to or from a licensed operator shall have a valid transportation permit.~~
- ~~(7) individuals transporting live foxes and coyotes on behalf of a licensed operator shall have a valid transportation permit or a copy of the operator's current license.~~

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

(e) Dog Density. Each controlled fox hunting preserve shall have an upper limit for dog density rounded to the nearest dog as follows:

- (1) fox only preserve: .5 dog per 1 acre;
- (2) fox and coyote preserve: .75 dog per 1 acre; and
- (3) coyote only preserve: 1 dog per 1 acre

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g); 113-291.3(a)
Eff. August 1, 1990;
Amended Eff. June 1, 2004.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1203 QUALITY OF FOXES AND COYOTES RELEASED

~~(a) All foxes and coyotes purchased-purchased, acquired, transferred, released, sold, or raised for release on controlled fox hunting preserves shall be appear visibly healthy and free from disease. disease of any kind. An examination and inspection of the foxes and coyotes by the Wildlife Resources Commission may be conducted at any time.~~

~~(b) All dead foxes and coyotes, except those killed taken by lawful method(s) dogs during a hunt, or diseased foxes and coyotes found within the pen shall be reported to the Commission within 48-hours of discovery. submitted to a North Carolina Department of Agriculture diagnostic lab for diagnosis. A copy of the diagnostic report shall be mailed to the Wildlife Resources Commission. Possession of unhealthy or diseased foxes and coyotes shall be grounds for revocation or denial of a controlled fox hunting preserve license.~~

~~(c) The Commission may quarantine any controlled fox hunting preserve where contagious diseases are located- identified, depending on the type and severity of the disease and the risk to other wildlife or humans. Quarantine may include:~~

- ~~(1) temporarily prohibiting removal or introduction of foxes and coyotes except as specifically provided by written permit issued by the Commission.~~
- ~~(2) notification to the county health department;~~
- ~~(3) cleaning or disinfection of the facility; and~~
- ~~(4) temporary license suspension.~~

~~(d) A quarantine shall not be lifted or cancelled until the Commission determines that there is no longer a threat of disease exposure to foxes, coyotes, domestic dogs or other animals.~~

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);113-132(b)
Eff. August 1, 1990;
Amended Eff. June 1, 2004.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1204 RECORDS REQUIRED

(a) License holders shall keep an accurate record, on a form provided by the Commission, including bill of sale for all foxes and coyotes released into and or removed from the preserve from licensed trappers, other licensed controlled fox hunting preserves, licensed fur propagators, or persons holding foxes or coyotes legally under a captivity license. released into the controlled fox hunting preserve. Records shall contain the following information:

- (1) preserve operator license, propagator license, or captivity license number, if applicable;
- (2) trapper identification number or name and address, if applicable;
- (3) transportation permit number, if applicable;
- (4) species and quantity of each;
- (5) date of purchase or transfer; and
- (6) county of origin.

(b) Records shall be maintained and available for inspection by officials of representatives of the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission at all times, upon request and during normal operating hours.

(c) Records shall be submitted to the Commission prior to the reissuance of the license.

(d) Records shall be retained by the license holder for 12 months following expiration of the license.

History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);

Eff. August 1, 1990;

Amended Eff. June 1, 2004.

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1205 HUNTING LICENSE REQUIRED

(a) ~~Every person hunting-participating in the pursuit of wildlife on a controlled fox hunting preserve shall have in his possession a proper-valid~~ resident or nonresident hunting license or ~~special-controlled hunting preserve~~ hunting license for the current year as required by law. in his or her possession, in accordance with 15A NCAC 10B .0114.

(b) ~~Nonresidents participating in a Commission-sanctioned field trial-trial, as defined in 15A NCAC 10B .0114, properly approved in advance by a Wildlife Enforcement Officer are exempt from North Carolina licensing requirements in section (a) of this Rule, provided providing they possess-have~~ a valid hunting license from their state of ~~residence-residence in their possession.~~

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);
Eff. August 1, 1990.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1206 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CARE OF FOXES AND COYOTES

~~(a) A minimum of one dog proof escape den for each 35 acres contained in the controlled fox hunting preserve must be provided and maintained.~~

~~(b)(a) Adequate food, Food and clean water water, and cover shall be provided to foxes and coyotes. provided to maintain a viable population of foxes within the controlled fox hunting preserve as follows:~~

- ~~(1) food shall be of a type and quantity that is appropriate for the species; and~~
- ~~(2) a constant supply of drinking water shall be available or provided.~~

~~(c) Since the intent of these rules is to promote a fair chase situation involving a resident population of foxes, the~~

~~(b) operator should make provisions. The following conditions shall apply to acclimate the acclimation of newly introduced foxes and coyotes: to the escape mechanisms located within the pen prior to pursuing the foxes with dogs.~~

- ~~(1) the acclimation period shall be at least seven (7) days;~~
- ~~(2) food and water meeting the requirements in Paragraph (a) of this Rule shall be provided in the area used for acclimation; and~~
- ~~(3) chase by dogs during the acclimation period shall be prohibited.~~

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g);
Eff. August 1, 1990.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10H .1207 LICENSE REVOCATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF LICENSE TO OPERATE

(a) Representatives of the Commission shall be permitted to enter the premises of any licensed controlled fox hunting preserve upon request to the license holder or during the preserve’s operating hours for inspection, enforcement, or scientific purposes.

(b) The Executive Director of the Commission or his or her designee may warn, cite, suspend, or revoke a license holder’s controlled hunting preserve operator license if the license holder violates applicable provisions of Subchapter IV of Chapter 113 of the North Carolina General Statutes, certain provisions of G.S. 14-360, the Rules of this Section, or any condition of the license. The determination whether to warn, cite, suspend, or revoke a license shall be based upon the seriousness of the violation, which may include:

- (1) felony animal abuse as specified in G.S. 14-360(a1) and (b) of the North Carolina General Statutes;
- (2) purposefully releasing foxes and coyotes into the wild;
- (3) falsifying records; or
- (4) failing to notify the appropriate agencies after a potential disease exposure or outbreak.

In accordance with provisions of G.S. 113-273(g) the Wildlife Resources Commission may revoke or suspend the license of any controlled fox hunting preserve operator upon violation of these rules.

(c) ~~Where there is evidence of such a violation, the Executive Director or his designee~~ The Commission shall give the operator license holder written notice in accordance with G.S. 113-276.2(e) before revoking a license. ~~20 days notice in writing to show cause to the Executive Director or his designee why his license should not be suspended or revoked.~~

(d) If a fox or coyote is unlawfully possessed, the Commission may determine disposition of the unlawfully possessed animal(s), which may include seizure, release, relocation, or euthanasia.

(e) If the Commission revokes a controlled hunting preserve operator license, the Commission may determine disposition of the animals, which may include seizure, release, relocation, or euthanasia.

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-134; 113-273(g); 113-276.2;
Eff. August 1, 1990.*

APPENDIX A – Proposed Controlled Fox Hunting Preserve and Trapping for Live Sale Rules

15A NCAC 10B .0409 SALE OF LIVE FOXES AND COYOTES TO CONTROLLED FOX HUNTING PRESERVES

(a) In counties with a trapping season for foxes and coyotes that do not prohibit live sale, Licensed licensed trappers may, subject to the restrictions on taking foxes in G.S.113- 291.4, live-trap foxes and coyotes during ~~any open trapping~~ that season for foxes and coyotes, and sell them to licensed controlled fox hunting preserves in accordance with the following conditions: conditions set forth in this rule.

(~~1~~)^(b) Licensed trappers are exempt from ~~easing~~, captivity permit ~~or~~ and captivity license requirements ~~set forth in 15A NCAC 10H .0300~~ for any live-trapped foxes or coyotes trapped for the purpose of sale to controlled fox hunting preserves. This exemption shall apply during the trapping season for foxes and coyotes, and for no more than ~~40~~ 30 days after the trapping season.

(c) Live-trapped foxes and coyotes shall not be held for more than 30 days after capture.

(d) Licensed trappers shall provide drinking water, food of a type and quantity appropriate for the species, and shelter that protects the foxes and coyotes from direct sunlight and precipitation.

(~~2~~)^(e) Licensed trappers ~~are~~ shall be exempt from tagging requirements set forth in this Section so long as the foxes are kept alive.

(f) Licensed trappers and any individual(s) transporting live foxes and coyotes shall have a current and valid transportation permit prior to taking possession of the live foxes and coyotes.

(g) Licensed trappers shall keep accurate written records, on a form provided by the Commission, for all foxes and coyotes sold or transferred to a controlled fox hunting preserve. Records shall contain the following information:

- (1) preserve operator license number, if applicable;
- (2) transportation permit number;
- (3) county of origin;
- (4) number of animals of each species;
- (5) date of capture; and
- (6) date of sale or transfer.

(h) Records required pursuant to this Rule shall meet the following requirements:

- (1) available for inspection by representatives of the Commission upon request;
- (2) submitted to and received by the Commission annually by May 1; and
- (3) retained by the trapper for 12 months following transportation permit expiration.

*History Note: Authority G.S. 113-274; 113-291.3(4); 113-134; 113-273(g);113-291.4;
Eff. January 1, 1992;
Amended Eff. July 10, 2010; June 1, 2004.*

EXHIBIT D-2

August 27, 2020



Proposed Amendments to 15A NCAC 10B .0409 – Sale of Live Foxes and Coyotes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves Recommended by Agency Staff for Notice, Public Comment, and Presentation at Public Hearing

Because of proposed changes to the CFHP rules, the rule regulating live sale of foxes and coyotes to fox preserves needed to be updated. Agency staff have worked with licensed trappers to propose revisions to this rule.

10B .0409

Updated language and clarified requirements for consistency with 10H .1200 rules. Specific changes include the following:

- Exempted from captivity license and permit requirements during the trapping season and up to 30 days thereafter;
- Restricted holding of trapped foxes and coyotes to 30 days after capture;
- Specified food, water and shelter requirements for live-trapped foxes and coyotes;
- Added transportation permit requirement for anyone transporting live foxes and coyotes (free permit);
- Added record keeping requirements on Commission-supplied form; and
- Specified record inspection, submittal and retention requirements.

10B .0409 – Sale of Live Foxes and Coyotes to Controlled Fox Hunting Preserves (page 2)

1 **15A NCAC 10B .0409 SALE OF LIVE FOXES AND COYOTES TO CONTROLLED FOX HUNTING**
2 **PRESERVES**

3 (a) In counties with a trapping season for foxes and coyotes that do not prohibit live sale, Licensed licensed trappers
4 may, subject to the restrictions on taking foxes in G.S.113- 291.4, live-trap foxes and coyotes during ~~any open trapping~~
5 that season for foxes and coyotes, and sell them to licensed controlled fox hunting preserves in accordance with the
6 following conditions: conditions set forth in this rule.

7 (~~1~~)(b) Licensed trappers are exempt from eaging, captivity permit ~~or~~ and captivity license requirements set forth in
8 15A NCAC 10H .0300 for any live-trapped foxes or coyotes trapped for the purpose of sale to controlled fox hunting
9 preserves. This exemption shall apply during the trapping season for foxes and coyotes, and for no more than ~~40~~30
10 days after the trapping season.

11 (c) Live-trapped foxes and coyotes shall not be held for more than 30 days after capture.

12 (d) Licensed trappers shall provide drinking water, food of a type and quantity appropriate for the species, and shelter
13 that protects the foxes and coyotes from direct sunlight and precipitation.

14 (~~2~~)(e) Licensed trappers ~~are~~ shall be exempt from tagging requirements set forth in this Section so long as the foxes
15 are kept alive.

16 (f) Licensed trappers and any individual(s) transporting live foxes and coyotes shall have a current and valid
17 transportation permit prior to taking possession of the live foxes and coyotes.

18 (g) Licensed trappers shall keep accurate written records, on a form provided by the Commission, for all foxes and
19 coyotes sold or transferred to a controlled fox hunting preserve. Records shall contain the following information:

20 (1) preserve operator license number, if applicable;

21 (2) transportation permit number;

22 (3) county of origin;

23 (4) number of animals of each species;

24 (5) date of capture; and

25 (6) date of sale or transfer.

26 (h) Records required pursuant to this Rule shall meet the following requirements:

27 (1) available for inspection by representatives of the Commission upon request;

28 (2) submitted to and received by the Commission annually by May 1; and

29 (3) retained by the trapper for 12 months following transportation permit expiration.

30

31